IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 18-0026

SUSAN E. COX and EDWARD A. COX, Petitioners-Appellants

V.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES, Respondent-Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HON. SCOTT D. ROSENBERG, JUDGE

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

Rebecca A. Brommel AT0001235 BROWN, WINICK, GRAVES, GROSS, BASKERVILLE AND SCHOENEBAUM, P.L.C. 666 Grand Avenue, Suite 2000 Des Moines, IA 50309-2510

Telephone: 515-242-2400

Facsimile: 515-323-8552

E-mail: brommel@brownwinick.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DEPARTMENT'S DECISION, WHICH VIOLATED NUMEROUS PROVISIONS OF IOWA CODE SECTION 17A.19(10).

Cases

- Anderson v. Iowa Dept. of Human Services, 368 N.W.2d 104 (Iowa 1985)
- <u>Beach v. State of Tennessee Department of Human Services</u>, .. Memorandum and Order, Case No. 09-2120-III (Tenn. Chancery Ct. Sept. 8, 2010)
- <u>Beinke v. Minnesota Dept. of Human Services</u>, Order, File No. V-14-271 (5th Judicial District Minn. June 24, 2014)
- Birchansky Real Estate, L.C. v. Iowa Department of Public Health, 737 N.W.2d 134 (Iowa 2007)
- Brakke v. Iowa Department of Natural Resources, 897 N.W.2d 522 (Iowa 2017)
- Center for Special Needs Trust Administration, Inc. v. Olson, 676 F.3d 688 (8th Cir. 2012)
- Citizens Aide/Ombudsman v. Rolfes, 454 N.W.2d 815 (Iowa 1990)
- City of Marion v. Department of Revenue & Finance, 643 N.W.2d 205 (Iowa 2002)
- <u>Civil Service Commission v. Iowa Civil Rights Commission</u>, 522 N.W.2d 82 (Iowa 1994)
- De Stefano v. Apartments Downtown, Inc., 879 N.W.2d 155 (Iowa 2016)
- Department of Social Services v. Saunders, 724 A.2d 1093 (Conn. 1999)
- <u>Des Moines Independent Community School District v. Department of Job</u> <u>Service</u>, 376 N.W.2d 605 (Iowa 1985)
- <u>Doe (Redacted) v. El Paso County Dept. of Human Services</u>, Initial Decision, Case No. SHP 2014-0929 (Colorado Office of Administrative Courts, Jan. 28, 2015)
- <u>Doe (Redacted) v. Winona County Dept. of Human Services</u>, Decision of State Agency on Appeal, Docket No. 186029 (Minn. Dept. of Human Services, March 13, 2017)
- <u>Dziuk v. Minnesota Dept. of Human Services</u>, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order for Judgment and Judgment, File No. 21-CV-09-1074 (7th Judicial District Minn. Feb. 2, 2012)
- Estate of Wierzbinski v. State of Michigan, Department of Human Services, Opinion and Order, Case No. 2010-4343-AA (Macomb County Cir. Ct. July 26, 2011)

- Eyecare v. Department of Human Services, 770 N.W.2d 832 (Iowa 2009)
- <u>Federal Express Corp. v. Mason City Human Rights Commission</u>, 852 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014)
- George H. Wentz, Inc. v. Sabasta, 337 N.W.2d 495 (Iowa 1983)
- <u>Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Department of Public Health</u>, 641 N.W.2d 823 (Iowa 2002)
- Henriksen v. Younglov Construction, 540 N.W.2d 254 (Iowa 1995)
- Hollinrake v. Iowa Law Enforcement Academy, 452 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa 1990)
- Hutson v. Mosier, 401 P.3d 673 (Kan. Ct. App. 2017)
- In re: the Guardianship of Scott G.G., 659 N.W.2d 438 (Wisc. Ct. App. 2003)
- <u>In re Lindell</u>, 334 B.R. 249 (Bankr. D. Minn. 2005)
- <u>In re Northgate Computer Systems, Inc.</u>, 240 B.R. 328 (Bankr. D. Minn. 1999)
- In re Pooled Advocate Trust, 813 N.W.2d 130 (S.D. 2012)
- <u>In re Schultz</u>, 368 B.R. 832 (Bankr. D. Minn. 2007)
- <u>Iowa Dental Association v. Iowa Insurance Division</u>, 831 N.W.2d 138 (Iowa 2013)
- <u>Kay-Decker v. Iowa State Board of Tax Review</u>, 857 N.W.2d 216 (Iowa 2014)
- Kucera v. Baldazo, 745 N.W.2d 481 (Iowa 2008)
- <u>Lewis v. Alexander</u>, 685 F.3d 325 (3d Cir. 2012), cert. denied 133 S.Ct. 933 (2013)
- Masters v. State of Michigan, Department of Human Services, Opinion and Order, Case No. 2011-5372-AA (Macomb County Cir. Ct. Aug. 9, 2012)
- Masters v. State of Michigan, Department of Human Services, Opinion and Order (on Motion for Reconsideration), Case No. 2011-5372-AA (Macomb County Cir. Ct. Oct. 3, 2012)
- Meinders v. Dunkerton Community School District, 645 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 2002)
- Miller v. Westfield Insurance Co., 606 N.W.2d 301 (Iowa 2000)
- Mosher v. Department of Inspections & Appeals, 671 N.W.2d 501 (Iowa 2003)
- New Mexico Department of Human Services v. Department of Health & Human Services Health Care Finance Administration, 4 F.3d 882 (10th Cir. 1993)
- Office of Consumer Advocate v. Iowa Utilities Board, 744 N.W.2d 640 (Iowa 2008)

<u>Peittersen v. Minnesota Department of Human Services</u>, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, 19HA-CV-11-5630 (Minn. 1st Judicial District, Oct. 2, 2012)

Perry v. Dowling, 95 F.3d 231 (2d Cir. 1996)

Ramey v. Reinertson, 268 F.3d 955 (10th Cir. 2001)

Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Commission, 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010)

Sommers v. Iowa Civil Rights Commission, 337 N.W.2d 470 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Public Employment Relations Board, 744 N.W.2d 357 (Iowa 2008)

<u>Turner v. Perales</u>, 869 F.2d 140 (2d Cir. 1989)

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Caselman, 657 N.W.2d 493 (Iowa 2003)

Statutes and Rules

42 C.F.R. § 483.10(c)(8)(ii)

42 C.F.R. § 483.10(f)(11)(ii)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(2)(B)(iv)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(2)(C)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(2)(A)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(3)(B)(i)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(A)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(B)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(C)

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(C)(iv)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.23

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.23(3)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.23(5)(c)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.23(5)(c)(1)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.23(8)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.24(2)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.24(2)(b)(2)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.24(3)(a)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.24(3)(b)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.24(3)(c)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.24(3)(c)(4)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-81.10(5)

Iowa Code ch. 17A

Iowa Code § 17A.2(11)(c)

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(b)

```
Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c)
```

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(f)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(f)(1)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(g)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(i)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(j)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(k)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(1)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(m)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(n)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(11)

Iowa Code § 249A.3(11)(c)

Iowa Code § 249A.3(11)(d)

Iowa Code § 249A.4

Iowa Code § 249A.4(10)

Iowa Code § 633.04

Iowa Code ch. 633C

Iowa Code § 633C.1

Iowa Code § 633C.2

Other Authorities

Bonfield, <u>Administrative Procedures Act</u>, 60 Iowa Law Rev. 731 (1975) Program Operations Manual System, § SI 01120.203, available at

https://secure.ssa.gov/poms.nsf/lnx/0501120203 (last updated May 14, 2013)

1 Social Security Law & Practice, §§ 1.28, 1.30

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101, this matter should be retained by the Supreme Court. This appeal involves a substantial issue of first impression relating to the treatment of special needs trusts for Medicaid eligibility. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). This appeal also presents substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles, as is shown by decisions rendered in other states. See id. at 6.1101(1)(f); see also, e.g., Beach v. State of Tennessee Department of Human Services, Memorandum and Order, Case No. 09-2120-III (Tenn. Chancery Ct. Sept. 8, 2010), App. 337-66; Estate of Wierzbinski v. State of Michigan, Department of Human Services, Opinion and Order, Case No. 2010-4343-AA (Macomb County Cir. Ct. July 26, 2011), App. 367-72; Masters v. State of Michigan, Department of Human Services, Opinion and Order (on Motion for Reconsideration), Case No. 2011-5372-AA (Macomb County Cir. Ct. Oct. 3, 2012), App. 380-83.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a Ruling and Order on Petition for Judicial Review issued on December 6, 2017, which dismissed the challenge of Appellants, Edward A. Cox ("Edward") and Susan E. Cox ("Susan"). App. 159-69. Such Ruling and Order also affirmed the Final Decisions of the

Iowa Department of Human Services ("the Department") issued on February 24, 2017 regarding the eligibility of Edward and Susan for medical assistance (hereinafter "Medicaid"). App. 159-69. Edward and Susan's Petitions for Judicial Review sought reversal of the Final Decisions on a variety of grounds under Iowa Code section 17A.19(10). App. 12-13, 41-42. The parties submitted briefs in the consolidated action to the District Court and presented oral arguments on August 4, 2017. App. 159.

The proceedings involving the parties began on June 14, 2016 when the Department issued a Disposal of Assets Penalty Notice of Decision to Edward. App. 321. The Disposal of Assets Penalty Notice of Decision denied Edward's application for Medicaid on the basis that he "transferred assets for less than fair market value." App. 321. As a result of this alleged transfer, the Department applied a penalty of 18 months and 25 days which made Edward ineligible for Medicaid benefits through July 25, 2017. App. 321. On the same date, Edward was issued a letter from Anne McLeod of the Department purportedly explaining the Department's reasoning for the penalty. App. 199. Edward timely appealed the Disposal of Assets Penalty Notice of Decision by filing an Appeal and Request for Hearing on or about June 28, 2016. App. 200.

On June 14, 2016, the Department also issued a Disposal of Assets Penalty Notice of Decision to Susan. App. 322-23. The Disposal of Assets Penalty Notice of Decision denied Susan's application for Medicaid on the basis that she "transferred assets for less than fair market value." App. 322. As a result of this alleged transfer, the Department applied a penalty of 87 months and 22 days, which made Susan ineligible for Medicaid benefits through July 22, 2023. App. 322. Susan timely appealed the Disposal of Assets Penalty Notice of Decision by filing an Appeal and Request for Hearing on or about July 15, 2016. App. 201.

The appeals of Edward and Susan were consolidated for hearing. App. 202-03. The Department submitted Appeal Summaries and exhibits with regard to Edward and Susan. App. 416. Susan and Edward submitted a Pre-Hearing Brief as well as Exhibits A through U. App. 416. The Department submitted a consolidated Supplemental Appeal Summary and an additional exhibit before the hearing. App. 416. The hearing on the consolidated appeals was held on September 27, 2016. App. 416. On December 12, 2016, Administrative Law Judge Kerry Anderson issued a Proposed Decision affirming the Department's decision as to Edward. App. 416-27. With respect to Susan, the Administrative Law Judge affirmed the Department's decision that the transfer made her ineligible for Medicaid, but

remanded the matter for a recalculation due to the improper inclusion of amounts paid prior to April 1, 2016. App. 416-27.

On December 21, 2016, Edward and Susan timely filed an Appeal and Request for Oral Argument with the Department's Appeals Section. App. 428-42. On January 9, 2017, the Department denied Edward and Susan's request for an oral argument. App. 443-46. Final Decisions were issued by the Department's Director on February 24, 2017. App. 447-55. The Final Decisions adopted the Proposed Decision and also included a "Discussion" allegedly supporting the Final Decision. App. 447-55.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Edward and Susan are husband and wife, and they currently reside at Westview Care Center, located at 1900 W. 3rd Place, Indianola, Iowa 50125. App. 159, 285, 291, 411-12 (Tr. 30:11-15, 30:25-31:5). Both Edward and Susan were born in 1950 and thus, turned 67 in 2017. App. 285, 291, 411-12 (Tr. 30:14, 31:3). Susan has left side neglect that was induced by a stroke. App. 292, 412 (Tr. 31:6-15). Edward has lymphedema, an incurable condition that is caused by a blockage in the lymphatic system and which

¹

¹ Although Susan's case was remanded as to the amount at issue, the legal issue (regarding the transfers and their impact on Medicaid eligibility) remains the same in both Edward and Susan's cases. The Department has issued a new calculation notice to Susan which slightly reduced her penalty period. That notice has been appealed and any hearing on such appeal has been delayed by the Administrative Law Judge due to this pending appeal.

causes swelling. App. 286. Edward's lymphedema makes his left arm unusable, and he requires a walker in order to ambulate safely. App. 289. Edward has received two kidney transplants in his lifetime and thus, has a number of medications. App. 286. There is no chance that either Edward or Susan will be able to live on their own again. App. 411-12 (Tr. 30:22-24, 31:22-24).

In late 2015, Susan received compensation for a medical malpractice lawsuit related to the cause of her stroke. App. 412-13 (Tr. 31:25-32:3). In addition, Edward received compensation for loss of consortium. App. 412-13 (Tr. 31:25-32:3). The majority of the funds from the lawsuit settlement were placed into separate special needs trusts, which will be described more fully below. App. 413 (Tr. 32:4-7).

The Center for Special Needs Trust Administration ("the Center"), a Florida-based non-profit association, established a National Pooled Trust on February 5, 2002. App. 226. The National Pooled Trust has been reformed, amended and restated since that time, with its most recent amendment taking place on November 4, 2015. App. 226-41. On February 8, 2016, Edward and Susan executed Joinder Agreements for the National Pooled Trust. App. 242-84. The effect of these Joinder Agreements was to create individual sub-accounts established for the benefit of Edward and Susan within the

National Pooled Trust (hereinafter referred to as "the pooled trust(s)" or the "pooled special needs trust(s)"). App. 228 (at § 2.5). Edward's sub-account received \$101,921.81, and Susan's sub-account received \$474,457.88. App. 307, 314. The Center acts as the Trustee for Edward and Susan's pooled trusts, and the Center is required to distribute the funds in accordance with the trust documents. App. 229 (at § 2.12), 414-15 (Tr. 33:18-34:2). The pooled trust funds can only be used for Edward and Susan's respective care. App. 229 (at § 2.9), 415 (Tr. 34:3-9). More specific, relevant provisions of the trust documents will be set forth in the Argument section below.

Edward and Susan both applied for Medicaid in 2016 around or after the time they moved to Westview Care Center. App. 321-23. The Department rejected Edward and Susan's applications and applied a calculation to determine a penalty period. App. 321-23. As a result of the penalty period, Edward was unable to obtain Medicaid benefits to pay for his long term care being provided at Westview Care Center through July 25, 2017. App. 321. Susan remains unable to obtain Medicaid benefits for her long term care through July 22, 2023. App. 322-23.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S RULING AND ORDER ON PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW SHOULD BE REVERSED, BECAUSE THE FINAL DECISIONS THE

COURT AFFIRMED VIOLATE NUMEROUS PROVISIONS OF IOWA CODE SECTION 17A.19(10).

A. Preservation of Error and Standard of Review.

Edward and Susan preserved error on this argument by raising it at the agency level with the Administrative Law Judge and with the Department in its appeal from the Proposed Decision. App. 204-25, 428-42. Edward and Susan also preserved error on this argument by raising it with the District Court through their Petitions for Judicial Review and their briefs to the Court. App. 10-95, 107-58.

Judicial review of agency actions is governed by Iowa Code section 17A.19. See Iowa Code § 17A.19; Brakke v. Iowa Department of Natural Resources, 897 N.W.2d 522, 530 (Iowa 2017) (citing Kay-Decker v. Iowa State Board of Tax Review, 857 N.W.2d 216, 222 (Iowa 2014)). This Court is to "apply the standards of section 17A.19(10) to determine if [it] reaches the same results as the district court." Id. (quoting Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Commission, 784 N.W.2d 8, 10 (Iowa 2010)). The District Court may reverse, modify or grant other appropriate relief from agency action if the substantial rights of petitioner have been prejudiced because the agency action meets any one of fourteen grounds listed. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10).

Four of the fourteen grounds listed in Iowa Code section 17A.19(10) specifically relate to an agency's interpretation of a provision of law. First,

an agency action may be reversed or modified if the action is "[b]ased upon an erroneous interpretation of a provision of law whose interpretation has not clearly been vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency." Id. at § 17A.19(10)(c). Second, an agency action may also be reversed or modified if it is "[b]ased upon an irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable interpretation of a provision of law whose interpretation has clearly been vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency." <u>Id.</u> at § 17A.19(10)(1); see also id. at § 17A.19(10)(m) (providing similar irrational, illogical and wholly unjustifiable standard to agency's application of law to fact). Third, an agency's action may be reversed if it is beyond the agency's authority or in violation of any provision of law. Id. at § 17A.19(10)(b). Fourth, an agency's action may be reversed or modified if it is not required by law and its negative impact on private rights is so grossly disproportionate to the public interest that it lacks foundation in rational agency policy. Id. at § 17A.19(10)(k).

This Court has held that review of an agency's interpretation of a provision of law is "under either the highly deferential 'irrational, illogical or wholly unjustifiable' standard, or the nondeferential errors-at-law standard." <u>Iowa Dental Ass'n v. Iowa Insurance Division</u>, 831 N.W.2d 138, 142-43 (Iowa 2013). Deference is given "only if our legislature clearly

vested authority to interpret the provision with the agency." <u>Id.</u> at 143 (citing Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c)); Iowa Code § 17A.19(11). Accordingly, in order to determine the appropriate standard of review, the Court must first address whether the agency (in this case, the Department) has been clearly vested with authority to interpret the provision of law at issue. On this issue, the District Court did not undertake this analysis, but rather simply concluded that "the expertise of the agency justifies some degree of deference to [the Department] and the Director in their determination of whether the transfer was for fair market value." App. 167. The giving of deference to the Department or its Director based upon general "expertise" was in error.

Here, Edward and Susan's challenge is to the Department's interpretation of its rules as well as federal law regarding Medicaid eligibility and pooled trusts. In Eyecare v. Department of Human Services, the Iowa Supreme Court specifically held that the Department is *not* clearly vested with interpretive authority over Medicaid-related rules:

Iowa Code section 249A.4 empowers the director of [the Department] to adopt rules regarding reimbursement for medical and health services for Medicaid patients. [The Department] argues because the legislature has given them broad or sole authority to run the Medicaid program, it has the power to interpret its own rules and regulations. However, the statute does not clearly give [the Department] the authority to interpret its rules and regulations. See State v. Public

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