# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 18-0026

SUSAN E. COX and EDWARD A. COX, Petitioners-Appellants,

vs.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES, Respondent-Appellee.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE SCOTT D. ROSENBERG, JUDGE

#### APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

# MATTHEW K. GILLESPIE AT0013513

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-4672 (515) 281-7219 (fax) Matthew.Gillespie@ag.iowa.gov

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

# **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. The District Court's Holding Correctly Concluded that the Department's Application of a Penalty Period to the Coxes Was in Full Conformity with Federal and State Law.

#### A. Preservation of Error.

The Department agrees that the Coxes have preserved error on the issue of whether the Department appropriately applied a penalty period to the Coxes for their transfers of assets to a pooled trust. The Department does not believe

that the record reflects the Coxes preserved their claim of a violation of Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(g). App'x. 12-14, 41-42.

# B. Scope and Standard of Review

The scope of this appeal is limited to whether the Department's Final Decision, which determined the Coxes transferred assets for less than fair market value, was correct under the Medicaid Act and the Department's obligations under the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act.

The judicial review provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act are the exclusive means for judicial review of administrative agency action. Iowa Code § 17A.19; see also Norland v. Iowa Dep't of Job Service, 412 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1987). When exercising the power of judicial review under Iowa Code § 17A.19, the court functions in an appellate capacity to correct errors of law. Ludtke v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 646 N.W.2d 62, 64-65 (Iowa 2002). Grounds for relief are specified in section 17A.19(10). The burden is on the petitioner to identify and establish the grounds for relief alleged. Iowa Code § 17A.19(8)(a).

The appropriate standard of review depends on the grounds for relief alleged. *Burton v. Hilltop Care Cntr.*, 813 N.W.2d 250, 256 (Iowa 2012). Appellants allege violations of Iowa Code §§ 17A.19(10)(b), (c), (f), (i), (j), (k), (l), (m), and

(n). Courts "are authorized to grant relief only if the agency's action is affected by error of law, unsupported by substantial evidence in the record, or characterized by abuse of discretion." George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148, 151 (Iowa 1997); see also Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc. v. Employment Appeal Bd., 570 N.W.2d 85, 90 (Iowa 1997). "We accord substantial deference to the interpretation of regulations within the agency's expertise. This deference is particularly warranted when we are called upon to construe the Medicaid act." Strand v. Rasmussen, 648 N.W.2d 95, 100 (Iowa 2002). But where interpretation of the law has not been vested in the discretion of an agency, legal issues are subject to de novo review. Bearinger v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 844 N.W.2d 104, 106 (Iowa 2014).

An agency action is "unreasonable, arbitrary, or capricious" only if the action was "taken without regard to the law or facts of the case," was "unreasonable or lacked rationality," or if it is "clearly against reason and evidence." City of Sioux City v. Iowa Dep't of Rev. & Fin., 666 N.W.2d 587, 590 (Iowa 2003). The abuse-of-discretion standard is "deferential" to the agency. Thoms v. Iowa Public Employees' Retirement Sys., 715 N.W.2d 7, 12 (Iowa 2006).

In a substantial-evidence challenge to agency fact-findings, a reviewing court's charge is not to "determine whether the evidence supports a different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On page 48 of their brief, the Coxes also allege Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(g) as a ground for reversal. However, this does not appear to have been raised on petition for judicial review. App'x. 13, 42.

finding; rather [the court's] task is to determine whether substantial evidence ... supports the findings actually made." *Abbas v. Iowa Ins. Div.*, 893 N.W.2d 879, 891 (Iowa 2017) (ellipses in original). An agency's action does not lack substantial evidence because inconsistent conclusions may be drawn from the same evidence. *Evenson v. Winnebago Indus., Inc.*, 881 N.W.2d 360, 366 (Iowa 2016).

- C. The Coxes Transferred Assets for Less Than Fair Market Value By Transferring Funds Into a Pooled Trust Without Compensation.
  - 1. The Medicaid Act Treats Long-Term Care Benefits Eligibility and General Eligibility Differently.

Medicaid (also known as "medical assistance" or the "medical assistance program") is a cooperative state and federal aid program that helps states provide medical assistance to the poor. Lankford v. Sherman, 451 F.3d 496, 504 (8th Cir. 2006); see Iowa Code § 249A.2(3), (6), (7), (10). Participation in Medicaid is voluntary and includes both mandatory and optional service coverage, but those states that elect to participate must follow the federal government's statutory and regulatory framework. Failure to comply with federal requirements may jeopardize federal funds. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(1)-(65), 1396c; see Iowa Code § 249A.4 (introductory paragraph and subsections (6) and (9)(b)); Iowa Code § 249A.2(7). Among these requirements, states must "comply with the provisions of section 1396p of this title with respect to ... transfers of assets,

and [the] treatment of certain trusts." 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(18); Ctr. for Special Needs Trust Admin., Inc. v. Olson, 676 F.3d 688, 694–95 (8th Cir. 2012).

The Medicaid program "was designed to serve individuals and families lacking adequate funds for basic health services, and it was designed to be a payer of last resort." *In re Estate of Melby*, 841 N.W.2d 867, 875 (Iowa 2014). Thus, "the program contemplates that families will spend available resources first, and when those resources are completely depleted, Medicaid may provide payment." *Id.*; *see also*, *Strand*, 648 N.W.2d at 101 (referring to "the needs-based test for Medicaid eligibility" and the problem of individuals who "were permitted 'to have [their] cake and eat it too,' at the expense of those who were truly unable to financially care for themselves."); *Abrendsen v. Iowa Dep't of Human Services*, 613 N.W.2d 674, 676 (Iowa 2000) (describing Medicaid as a "welfare program"); *Ford v. Iowa Dep't of Human Services*, 500 N.W.2d 26, 28, 31 (Iowa 1993) (describing Medicaid as a program for "welfare recipients").

In making determinations of eligibility for Medicaid benefits, states are tasked with conducting an evaluation of an applicant's income and resources based on what is "available" to the applicant. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17) (authorizing states to apply reasonable standards to determine what income and resources are "available" to applicants); 42 C.F.R. § 435.600 *et seq.* (corresponding regulations). Generally, funds held in trust are counted as resources for determining Medicaid eligibility. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(3). Three types of trusts are

not subject to this general rule, however. These trusts (often called "Medicaid" or "special needs" trusts) are enumerated in 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4). The one relevant to this matter is delineated in 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(C), and is known as either a "C" trust or, as will be referred to in this brief, a "pooled" trust.

Pooled trusts are "special arrangement[s] with a non-profit organization that serves as trustee to manage assets belonging to many disabled individuals, with investments being pooled, but with separate trust 'accounts' being maintained for each disabled individual." Lewis v. Alexander, 685 F.3d 325, 333 (3rd Cir. 2012), cert. denied 133 S. Ct. 933 (2013) (internal citation omitted). Pooled trusts are "intended for individuals with a relatively small amount of money. By pooling these small accounts for investment and management purposes, overhead and expenses are reduced and more money is available to the beneficiary." Id. Upon death of the beneficiary, remaining funds in a pooled trust subaccount, as with all Medicaid trusts, are payable to the State in an amount up to the total amount of medical assistance paid for by the State for the beneficiary. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(C)(iv). As noted by the Coxes in their brief, funds transferred to a pooled trust at any age enjoy their exempt status for purposes of determining available resources for general Medicaid eligibility. (Appellant Br. at 25-26).

However, when an individual applies to Medicaid for long-term care benefits, such as the nursing facility services for which the Coxes applied, eligibility for those long-term care benefits is subject to an additional analysis. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c). States are required to review and investigate whether such applicant transferred assets for less than fair market value within a look-back period. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(1)(A). If so, then the "individual is ineligible for medical assistance for" long-term care benefits for a temporary period of time. *Id.* Practically, this means that states are required to apply a "penalty period" (a delay in eligibility for those long-term care benefits) to the applicant-transferor. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(1)(E). This penalty period does not affect eligibility for Medicaid benefits other than long-term care benefits. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396p(c)(1)(A), (c)(1)(C)(i); *In re Pooled Advocate Trust*, 813 N.W.2d 130, 143 (S.D. 2012) (discussing distinction between medical-only Medicaid coverage and delay in long-term benefits eligibility).

The Medicaid Act explicitly outlines a handful of exceptions to this general rule, however. The Act provides:

**(2)** An individual shall not be ineligible for medical assistance by reason of paragraph (1) to the extent that--

**(B)** the assets--

. . .

(iv) were transferred to a trust (including a trust described in subsection (d)(4) of this section) established solely for the benefit of an individual under 65 years of age who is disabled (as defined in section 1382c(a)(3) of this title)[.]

42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(2)(B)(iv); see also Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-75.23(5)(b)(4) (state corollary). As stated previously, the subsection cited, 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4), describes, inter alia, pooled trusts. The question before this Court is whether the language of 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(2)(B)(iv) permitted the Department to determine that the Coxes' transfer of assets to a pooled trust for their own benefit when they were both at or over the age of 65 was a transfer for less than fair market value. For the following reasons, this Court should follow the overwhelming legal authority on this exact issue and affirm the District Court.

As will be shown below, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(2)(B)(iv), transfers to pooled trusts for beneficiaries at or over age 65 are *per se* transfers for less than fair market value under the Medicaid Act at the time the transfer is made. *See* (discussion at Section I.C.2.). Transferors may later, however, make a showing that they have received fair market value for some or all of the resources they transferred, thereby reducing their penalty period. *See* (discussion at Section I.C.3.). As a result, the State's application of a penalty period for the Coxes' transfer was appropriate and consistent with the text and purposes of the Medicaid Act.

2. As Shown by the Plain Language of the Medicaid Act, Congress Intended for Transfers of Assets into Pooled Trusts by Beneficiaries Age 65 or Older to be Subject to a Transfer Penalty Period.

"... Congress intended for transfers of assets into 'C' pooled trusts by beneficiaries age 65 or older to be subject to a transfer penalty period ...." Olson, 676 F.3d at 703 (8th Cir. 2012).

When asked to interpret a statute, the Supreme Court first considers the plain meaning of the statute's language. *State v. Nall*, 894 N.W.2d 514, 518 (Iowa 2017). If unambiguous, the statute is applied as written. *Id.* If ambiguous, the Court may then resort to other interpretive tools. *Id.* Although this Court holds the authority to interpret federal law independently, it does give respectful consideration to federal decisions. *Top of Iowa Coop. v. Sime Farms, Inc.*, 608 N.W.2d 454, 460 (Iowa 2000).

The plain language of the Medicaid Act makes clear that transfers of assets to pooled trusts when the beneficiary is over the age of 65 are transfers for less than fair market value at the time they are made, triggering a penalty period for long-term care benefits eligibility. The Medicaid Act specifically identifies eight categories of transfers for less than fair market value that would trigger a penalty period but for their specific exemption. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396p(c)(2)(A), (B). Both parties agree that only one is at issue here – the specific exemption for transfers to Medicaid trust accounts, including pooled trusts, for beneficiar-

ies under the age of 65. 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(2)(B)(iv). The inclusion of this specific category of transfers is dispositive. "Legislative intent is expressed by omission as well as by inclusion of statutory terms." Oyens Feed & Supply, Inc. v. Primebank, 808 N.W.2d 186, 193 (Iowa 2011) (internal citation omitted). Under the doctrine of "expression unius est exclusion alterius," the "expression of one thing is the exclusion of another." Homan v. Branstad, 887 N.W.2d 153, 166 (Iowa 2016); see also Hennepin Cnty. v. Fed Nat. Mortg. Ass'n, 742 F.3d 818, 821 (8th Cir. 2014) ("The existence of statutory exceptions indicates that Congress considered whether there was need for any exception and 'limited the statute to the ones set forth.") (citing U.S. v. Johnson, 529 U.S. 53, 58, 120 S. Ct. 1114 (2000)).

Here, Congress specifically identified eight categories of transfers that would be subject to a penalty period for long-term care benefits eligibility but for their delineation as a specific exemption. Transfers to Medicaid trusts for beneficiaries under the age of 65 are specifically exempt from transfer penalties.<sup>2</sup> However, transfers to Medicaid trusts for beneficiaries at or over the age of 65, necessarily, are not exempt. Had Congress intended a differing interpretation, it could have included language to that effect. *See State v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Significantly, 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(C) does not contain the same agerelated language. *State v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Jones Cnty*, 888 N.W.2d 655, 667 (Iowa 2016) ("When the legislature selectively places language in one section and avoids it in another, we presume it did so intentionally.") (internal citation omitted).

Jones Cnty, 888 N.W.2d 811, 818 (Iowa 2017) ("Under the doctrine of legislative acquiescence, 'we presume the legislature is aware of our cases that interpret its statutes."") (internal citation omitted); accord. Stringer v. St. James R-1 School Dist., 446 F.3d 799, 804 (8th Cir. 2006). Thus, at the time a beneficiary at or over age 65 transfers assets to a pooled trust, it is a transfer for less than fair market value, triggering a penalty period under subsection (c).

The Eighth Circuit reached this conclusion in *Olson*, a case which involved the same pooled trust trustee as this case. In *Olson*, a Medicaid applicant transferred approximately \$50,000 to a pooled trust at the age of 78. *Olson*, 676 F.3d at 693-94. The State of North Dakota erroneously determined the applicant was only 54 at the age of the transfer. *Id.* at 694. Upon the applicant's death, the state recognized it had wrongly determined the applicant was immediately eligible for long-term care benefits. *Id.* The trustee refused to reimburse North Dakota for long-term care payments made during what would have been the applicant's penalty period. *Id.* 

The Eighth Circuit rejected the trustee's numerous arguments that 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(c)(2)(B)(iv) did not apply to pooled trusts funded by a Medicaid applicant at or over the age of 65. *Id.* at 702-03. Instead, the Eighth Circuit held:

When all paragraphs of the statute are read together, a disabled individual over 65 may establish a type "C" pooled trust, but may be subject to a delay in Medicaid benefits. Despite the lack of an

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